FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/12/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

103961-1

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/12/2025 12:10 PM

No. 84657-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUSTIN CORNELIUS, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON d/b/a Washington State University,

Respondent,

and

ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a national organization, ETA CHAPTER OF ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a Washington corporation d/b/a/ ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, and ETA OF ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a Washington corporation,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Austin Cornelius asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its published opinion on January 21, 2025.

It denied Austin's motion for reconsideration on February 13,

2025. Copies are in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where state law and Washington State University's ("WSU") own regulations ban hazing, did the trial court err in ruling that WSU owed no duty to a student for a fraternity's hazing when WSU had a special relationship with that student arising out of the university's provision of the infrastructure for such hazing and its official recognition of the fraternity, and the fraternity's conduct was foreseeable because WSU had previously revoked the fraternity's recognition for its hazing practices that included requiring pledges to drink or use drugs in excess as part of its initiation ritual?

2. Under the terms of RCW 28B.10.901-.902 and WAC 504-26-206 that ban hazing, did a student who is hazed have an implied common law right of action against WSU for its negligence arising out of the violation those anti-hazing statutes and regulations?

3. Where WSU took charge of a fraternity and

thereby owed a duty of care to a student victimized by hazing at WSU, did Division I err in concluding that the student somehow "abandoned" that duty argument when the student fully briefed the duty issue?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's published opinion offers an abbreviated discussion of the facts/procedure in the case. Op. at 2-3. The Court omitted certain facts that bear emphasis.

In its published opinion, the *Martinez* court correctly noted the extensive requirements WSU imposed on fraternities like AKL in order to be officially recognized such as abiding by WSU alcohol, drug, and anti-hazing policies, and maintenance of minimum GPAs, to name only a few. *Martinez v. Wash. State Univ.*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 562 P.3d 802 (2025). *See also,* CP 1806-10. But Division I failed to fully acknowledge the symbiotic WSU/fraternity relationship.

Division I asserted that Austin's hazing occurred "offcampus," op. at 1, 11, when Greek Row in Pullman and AKL's Eta Chapter ("Chapter") were in close proximity to the campus, near to WSU's President's house. CP 1744, 1897.

The Chapter conducted "study tables" at WSU's library and paraded pledges like Austin from the library across the campus to the Eta house as part of its hazing ritual. Br. of Resp't ("BR") 21. It is a reasonable inference from the fact of the crosscampus ritual that the campus community and University officials were well-aware of such an obvious, unusual event that was part of the Chapter ritual *for years*. Clearly, students marching across campus at night in lockstep would hardly be typical and would be noteworthy to any observer including University staff. Moreover, WSU's staff had to be aware of specifically designated Chapter "study tables" on its premises.

Simply put, the Chapter utilized WSU premises for hazing; Austin was not hazed solely at the Chapter house.

Also ignored by Division I was the key fact that WSU has had a symbiotic relationship with Greek fraternities like the Chapter *for years*. WSU benefits from extremely generous contributions from former fraternity members, estimated at \$100 million in the period between 2009 and 2019 alone, in the *Martinez* briefing. In turn, the University *promotes* Greek fraternities, and all too often turns a blind eye toward drinking/drugging in those officially-sanctioned student housing organizations that cases like Austin's, Sam Martinez's, or Luke Tyler's, all of whom were injured in a fraternity hazing, fully document. 18 of 18 fraternities in 2013 had alcohol sanctions levied against them. Br. of Appellant ("BA") 59.

WSU's Center for Fraternity and Sorority Life ("CFSL") did not merely provide incoming students with "an overview" of the benefits and risks of Greek life. Rather, it aggressively *promoted* fraternities/sororities with paid staff and a website. BA 3-4. 22% of WSU's students belong to fraternities or sororities. CP 1798. CFSL "advised" an intrafraternity council of Greek Row entities, CP 1799, evidencing the intertwined relationship between WSU and Greek Row. At the time of Austin's hazing, WSU even officially *exempted* students in fraternities from its requirement that first year students must reside on campus, WAC 504-24-030, further promoting fraternities like the Chapter.

If, in fact, the Greek Row fraternities are "private" or "independent" corporations, why is the University hiring a staff of five public employees paid with public funds to promote those allegedly private organizations? *See* Wash. Const. art. VIII, § 5 (barring the lending of the state's credit "in aid of" any corporation).¹

In return for signing the Relationship Agreement ("RA") with WSU, CP 1800-34, WSU "recognized" the Chapter and provided for *extensive* benefits to it including financial support and access to University facilities/staff. CP 1804, 1806.

¹ Under this Court's gift of public funds protocol, moneys may only be given to private institutions if they are advancing a *public* purpose, here, a WSU purpose. *Peterson v. State, Dep't of Revenue*, 195 Wn.2d 513, 460 P.3d 1080 (2020). To survive a constitutional challenge, the expenditure of public funds to benefit a private concern like the Chapter must carry out a "fundamental purpose of government." If they do not, then courts evaluate donative intent on the government's part, looking to the consideration received by the government from the private organization and the government's donative intent. Either way, presumably all of the staffing/funds WSU spends on fraternities further *WSU's interests*.

In turn, WSU controlled such officially recognized organizations. Fraternities had to abide by various WSU policies, including the student code of conduct and WSU's disciplinary authority. The fraternities could be disciplined by WSU, including non-recognition. CP 1810, 1812. *See, e.g., Alpha Kappa Lambda Fraternity v. Wash. State Univ.*, 152 Wn. App. 401, 216 P.3d 451 (2009).

WSU *knew* the Chapter had previously hazed its pledges. Indeed, the Chapter's then "New Member Educator" was arrested for drug dealing. *Alpha Kappa Lambda, supra*. Yet, WSU reinstated the Chapter and did not pay close attention to its hazing conduct that went on presumably for years postreinstatement. Such fraternity alcohol issues were routine at WSU. *See Dussault v. Wash. State Univ.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1043, 2022 WL 17581806 (2022) (unpublished) (2017 alcohol-related injuries of freshman fraternity pledge).

In *Martinez*, Division I held that WSU had a duty of care to students in fraternities under *Restatement* § 315(a), reasoning

that WSU knew about the fraternity's past misconduct, could "identify its potential victims," and "could exercise sufficient control over [the fraternity] to manifest a duty under *Restatement* (*Second*) § 315(a)." *Id.* at 37-45.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) <u>Division I's Opinion on WSU's Special</u> <u>Relationship with Austin Is Contrary to Barlow</u>

Division I concluded that WSU did not owe Austin a duty under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 344. *See* Appendix. Op. at 6-16. Its opinion contravened this Court's decision in *Barlow v. Wash. State Univ.*, 2 Wn.3d 583, 540 P.3d 783 (2024). In particular, Division I confines the reach of the special relationship between students and higher education institutions to situations where a student is *on campus* for school-related purposes or participating in a school activity, op. at 8, truncating the scope of the duty Court recognized in *Barlow*. There, this Court applied *Restatement* § 344 to conclude that an institution could be liable for harm resulting to students activities on school premises *or* resulting from school-sponsored activities. 2 Wn.3d at 597-98. The *Barlow* court did not limit an institution's duty to on-campus school-sponsored activities.

A premises owner must *anticipate risk* from third persons to those on its premises and to "police" those premises accordingly. Restatement § 344 cmt. f. McKown v. Simon *Property Grp., Inc.,* 182 Wn.2d 752, 768, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) (shopping mall premises owner could be liable under § 344 for shooting that was reasonably foreseeable based on past experience, the place or character of the premises owner's activities or the likelihood of harm there effectuated by third persons. See also, Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192, 943 P.2d 286 (1997); Johnson v. State, 77 Wn. App. 934, 943, 894 P.2d 1366, review denied, 127 Wn.2d 1020 (1995); Brady v. Whitewater Creek, Inc., 24 Wn. App. 2d 728, 749-52, 521 P.3d 236 (2022), review denied, 1 Wn.3d 1016 (2023) (prior incidents on premises).

(a) <u>The Chapter Hazed Austin on WSU's</u> <u>Premises</u>

First, Austin was hazed on WSU's premises. WSU's library and campus were used for the Chapter's hazing rituals. Division I was all too eager to exonerate the Chapter from liability under § 344 for hazing that actually occurred on the WSU campus.

WSU was fully aware of hazing generally on its campus and at the Chapter in particular from past experience. WSU officially sponsored or "recognized" the Chapter, promoting "Greek Life" through its CFSL for students like Austin. Higher educational institutions provide an array of educational, living, and social opportunities for students, as this Court is aware. WSU made its facilities like the library available for the Chapter to engage in hazing. Austin and other Chapter pledges were marched from the library across its campus as part of the Chapter's hazing ritual. CP 1744, 1897.

Division I adopted an unduly restrictive view of Barlow's

duty owed to a student on campus "'for school related purposes.'" Op. at 13-14. If organized study sessions at a university-owned, on-campus library have no "school-related purpose," as Division I held, *id.* at 13-14, it is hard to imagine what qualifies. The *Barlow* court made clear that a "schoolrelated purpose" in a university setting involves more than just lectures, labs, and other formal academic classes. The kinds of "nonacademic offerings" on campus that would qualify for "potential liability under *Restatement* § 344," this Court explained, include things like "housing, providing food, opportunities for social interaction." 2 Wn.3d at 597.

But a key factual point that Division I also overlooks is that WSU made fraternities, in effect, a part of its campus. WSU required all freshmen like Cornelius "to live in organized living groups which are officially recognized by the university . . . for one academic year." WAC 504-24-030(2). WSU entered into a University Approved Housing agreement ("UAH") with the Chapter. CP 1673, 1727. In doing so, WSU made the Chapter eligible to offer "officially recognized" housing to first-year students. WAC 504-24-030(2). Thus, by pledging the Chapter, Cornelius satisfied WSU campus-related requirements for students. The RA's extensive requirements, CP 1806-10, were also met in Austin's case.

Under *Barlow*, eating at an on-campus cafeteria is covered; under Division I's opinion, however, studying in the campus library or living at a WSU approved residential facility in lieu of a WSU-provided residence is not. That opinion cannot be reconciled with *Barlow*, and this Court's review is needed to clarify the legal test for what constitutes a "school-related purpose." In sum, WSU owed Austin a *Restatement* § 344 duty of care arising out of the use of its premises by the Chapter.

(b) <u>The Chapter Was a WSU-Sponsored Entity</u>

WSU also owed a duty to Austin because the Chapter was a "university sponsored activit[y]." *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 587. The *Barlow* court framed WSU's duty to its students in the disjunctive: "the duty exists within the campus confines *or* university sponsored and controlled events." *Id.* (emphasis added). Division I misapplied this second, alternative prong from *Barlow*.

WSU devoted paid staff to nurture Greek life, including at AKL; allocated campus resources to encourage students to consider joining fraternities; helps organize fraternities' fall "rush" period; and allowed fraternities to use the campus for organized fraternity events where regimented control over freshmen pledges took place. Again, WSU-sponsored activities and information it provided led Austin to pledge a fraternity. CP 1748. He found persuasive WSU's brochures and its website, and he was excited about the "study tables" that WSU permitted at its on-campus library. CP 510, 1748, 1773-74. WSU exercises broad regulatory and disciplinary authority over the off-campus activities at fraternities, as noted infra. WSU cannot dedicate so many resources and so much power to nurturing and regulating Greek life and then deny its symbiotic relationship with the Greek system.

Division I brushed aside these facts, believing that no duty arises for universities under *Barlow* "simply because they 'provid[e] basic necessities' such as 'opportunities for social interaction." Op. at 11 (quoting 2 Wn.3d at 597). That shrinks *Barlow*. This Court had said only that such "basic necessities" usually are provided on campus. 2 Wn.3d at 597. But this Court never said that a university's involvement with an organization providing such "basic necessities" could *never* support a § 344 duty if it were off campus.

Thus, WSU *approved* the Chapter, giving it official recognition, knowing it offered residential facilities that satisfied an *on-campus* residence mandate. WSU officially encouraged Greek Row housing as part of the University's campus community and devoted official WSU staff to promote Greek Life. It was on notice of the intimate relationship between alcohol and drugs, Greek Life, and the tragic consequences of it having removed AKL's recognition previously, in deaths like those of Sam Martinez and Luke Tyler, and in the harm to people

like Austin. WSU owed Austin a duty of care for hazing that occurred at the Chapter.

Here, unlike in *Barlow*, WSU extensively sponsored and controlled the Chapter, and it *did* have "actual power to thereby control students' actions and sponsored a fraternity's activities at a private off campus residence at the time of the hazing." Op. at 11.

To the extent that any hazing occurred "off-campus," that is not determinative as to the duty analysis because the location of the harm is not crucial where fraternities are WSU schoolsponsored activities. *See N.L. v. Bethel School Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 435, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) (14-year-old student raped far away from campus by another student who was a registered sex offender; "While the location of the injury is relevant to many elements of the tort, the mere fact the injury occurs off campus is not by itself determinative.").

Specifically, this Court has found a school district duty for off-campus hazing by private organizations. *Sherwood v. Moxie*

Sch. Dist. No. 90, 58 Wn.2d 351, 363 P.2d 138 (1961) (off campus letterman's initiation ceremony in public park after school hours); *Chappel v. Franklin Pierce Sch. Dist. No. 402*, 71 Wn.2d 17, 426 P.2d 471 (1967) (club initiation that involved hazing after school hours at family residence of a club member); *Carabba v. Anacortes Sch. Dist. No. 103*, 72 Wn.2d 939, 435 P.2d 936 (1968) (off campus varsity wrestling match).

Division I's opinion contravenes this Court's discussion of the *Restatement* § 344 duty issue in *Barlow*, meriting review. Because higher education institutions sponsor school-related activities both on and off campus, this Court needs to determine the scope of its decision in *Barlow*. This Court should address and resolve the scope of the *Restatement* § 344 duty it adopted in *Barlow* as to fraternity hazing. This Court should grant review to clarify when a public university's involvement in an offcampus activity–especially officially recognized housing–is enough to trigger a duty of care. RAP 13.4(b)(1). That is especially true for fraternities, or any private groups, that receive material support in exchange for university oversight, because injuries are widespread. *See, e.g., Dussault*, 2022 WL 17581806.

(c) <u>The Chapter's Hazing of Austin Was</u> <u>Foreseeable</u>

In addition to truncating this Court's § 344-based duty in *Barlow*, Division I improperly treats the analysis determination of foreseeability. Op. at 14-17; McKown, supra. In the § 344 duty context, WSU was on notice that hazing occurred at the Chapter. Just as it was foreseeable in N.L. that a registered sex offender might take a student off campus and rape her, it was foreseeable that the Chapter would again haze pledges requiring them to drink to excess. Moreover, Division I's refusal to treat Austin's hazing as analogous to the Chapter's hazing conduct that caused it to lose WSU's recognition, op. at 15, is puzzling. Both involved alcohol and hazing. That each act of hazing was not identical does not diminish the fact that WSU was on notice of hazing fueled by alcohol. Division I decided the issue of foreseeability as a matter of law, further meriting this

Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) <u>Division I's Opinion on an Implied Right of Action</u> <u>Is Contrary to Controlling Precedents</u>

Division I rejected an implied right of action in this case, adopting the analysis in *Martinez*. Op. at 3-5. Division I erred, meriting review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Austin has an implied cause of action against WSU for the Chapter's hazing activities arising out of Washington's antihazing statute, RCW 28B.10.901, and WSU's own anti-hazing regulation, WAC 504-26-206. *See* RCW 5.40.050 (violation of statute or administrative regulation is evidence of negligence). *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990); *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Mkt., Inc.*, 131 Wn.2d 468, 951 P.2d 749 (1998); *Tyner v. Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000); *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 374 P.3d 121 (2016); *Swank v. Valley Christian Sch.*, 188 Wn.2d 663, 680, 398 P.3d 1108 (2017).

Division I focused principally on the second Bennett

element, but each merits attention.

Austin Was Within the Protected Class. Since 1993, Laws of 1993, ch. 514, Washington has banned hazing in higher education. RCW 28B.10.901(1); RCW 28B.10.902(1) (participation in hazing requires forfeiture of state-funded grants and scholarships); RCW 28B.10.902(2) (entities engaging in hazing must lose official university recognition); RCW 28B.10.901(2) (criminal penalties for hazing); RCW 28B.10.905 (hazing prevention committees). Similarly, WAC 504-26-206 establishes penalties for any person hazing another. These statutory/regulatory provisions establish a special protected class of persons – hazing victims.

WSU maintains authority to impose sanctions against "registered student organizations that violate university policies and the standards of conduct," WAC 504-26-015(5), and has specifically exerted significant control over AKL and the Chapter. There are at least two known instances in recent history in which WSU has exerted significant authority over the Chapter and its members. First, in 2007, as discussed in Division I's opinion, and in the present case. Once it was determined that the events Austin reported about AKL were true, WSU sanctioned AKL by again revoking recognition of the Chapter for a period of five years. CP 1884. As of the time of the trial court motions, the Chapter had not applied for renewed recognition, although it became eligible to do so in 2020. In addition to the sanctions imposed upon the Chapter, WSU also sanctioned the Chapter's president, Maxwell Zimmerman.

Austin was within the protected class of RCW 28B.10.901-.902 and WSU's anti-hazing regulation.

The Legislature Intended to Create a Private Remedy. That the Legislature intended to create a private remedy here is documented by the sheer extent of the specific protective provisions in the statute and implementing regulations designed to benefit people like Austin. *Bennett*, 113 Wn.2d at 919-20. It could hardly have created such rights without intending a remedy for their breach. *Lucas Flour Co. v. Local 174, Teamsters* *Chaffeurs, and Helpers of America,* 57 Wn.2d 95, 103, 356 P.2d 1 (1960); *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham,* 80 Wn.2d 547, 556, 496 P.2d 512 (1972).

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