FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2025 2:46 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 103961-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUSTIN CORNELIUS, an individual,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON d/b/a Washington State University,

Respondent,

and

ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a national organization, ETA CHAPTER OF ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a Washington corporation d/b/a/ ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, and ETA OF ALPHA KAPPA LAMBDA, a Washington corporation,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

BRENDAN LENIHAN Assistant Attorney General WSBA 56066 PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504 360-586-6300 OID #90126

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

None of the factors supporting Supreme Court review are met here because Division I faithfully applied *Barlow* and other controlling case law.

First, Division I meticulously applied *Barlow* in holding that Cornelius failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that the University controlled and sponsored off-campus hazing or that the nighttime campus marching advanced a school-related purpose or was foreseeable.

Second, the plain language and legislative history of the hazing statute cannot be read to imply a cause of action against

the University, and Cornelius fails to offer any case law to the contrary.

Lastly, directly analogous appellate cases support Division I's holding that Cornelius abandoned his Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(a) claim.

This Court should deny review.

A. The University Did Not Owe a Duty to Protect Cornelius from Illegal Hazing Occurring Inside ETA's Private, Off-Campus Residence

The University's § 344 premises liability duty does *not* extend to non-curricular, off-campus activities that are not controlled and sponsored by the University. *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 588-98. "Because no ability to control off-campus, non-school-sponsored interactions exists, the duty does not extend to the choices or activities under a student's control." *Id.* at 597.

There was nothing curricular about ETA's criminal offcampus hazing events that the University did not even know about, let alone sponsor. Nor does the University have any legal authority to enter and search a private, off-campus residence to police, monitor and prevent the illegal actions of adult students.

Cornelius' arguments to the contrary do not warrant review.

First, the University did not assume a duty to control the off-campus actions of ETA by adopting anti-hazing provisions in its student code of conduct. *See* Am. Br. Appellant at 31-33, 49, 52, 57. As this Court clarified in *Barlow*, a student code of conduct does not create control of student behavior in a preventative way and thus "is irrelevant to establishment of a duty." 2 Wn.3d at 597.

Second, Cornelius proffered no evidence that the University "sponsored" any of the private off-campus events where ETA hazed Cornelius as required to support a duty under *Barlow*. The term "sponsor," means "a person or an organization that pays for or plans and carries out a project or activity" or "one who assumes responsibility for some other person or thing." *Sponsor*, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sponsor (last visited June 2, 2024). It is undisputed here that the University did not pay for, plan, or carry

out ETA's hazing activities.

Third, Cornelius inaptly argues that ETA's hazing was foreseeable because the University had sanctioned the chapter a decade earlier for student conduct code violations. Am. Br. Appellant at 3, 22, 44-45; Pet. for Review at 8, 16. But this speculative assertion erroneously assumes a duty by the University to monitor, police, and prevent adults from engaging in illegal off-campus hazing in the first place. No such duty exists. Moreover, "foreseeability does not establish duty." *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 595.

Furthermore, Division I correctly observed that Cornelius' allegations about ETA's disciplinary history a decade earlier were more generalized and remote in time than the misconduct presented by the plaintiff in *Barlow* against an alleged rapist. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 488. In *Barlow*, this Court held that the University had no duty over off-campus and non-sponsored conduct even after receiving two complaints about the same perpetrator not long before the perpetrator raped the plaintiff.

Barlow, 2 Wn.3d at 598. The more attenuated allegations about misconduct by ETA cannot establish a duty here. See Pet. for Review generally.

Fourth, Division I correctly rejected Cornelius' argument that the ETA chapter house was "physically proximate" to campus as immaterial to the duty analysis. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 488. Under *Barlow*, the test is whether 'a student is *on campus* for school related purposes *or* participating in a school activity." *Id.* (quoting *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 597) (emphasis added). Thus, in *Barlow*, the fact that the offending student's apartment was located "directly adjacent to campus" was immaterial. *Id.*; Br. Appellant, *Barlow v. State*, 2022 WL 18144326, at *2 (Jul. 20, 2022) (describing location of the apartment of the rapist). The same is true here.

Fifth, ETA of AKL did not have a housing agreement with the University, and freshmen students, including Cornelius, could not live in the ETA off-campus residence. CP 1125, 1673. Contrary to Cornelius' unsupportable claim, the University did

not offer housing at ETA as a basic necessity. But even if there had been a University-approved housing agreement, this still could not establish a duty. The *Barlow* court rejected the argument that a university owes a duty of care to a student simply because it "is involved in aspects of student life outside of the academic sphere, such as providing basic necessities" like "on-campus housing." Providing off-campus housing certainly cannot support such a duty. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 487 n. 5 (quoting *Barlow*, 2 Wn. 3d at 597).

For all these reasons, Division I correctly held that "none of the facts Cornelius proffers creates a genuine issue of material fact that WSU controlled and sponsored the abusive students' off campus interactions with Cornelius." *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 489-90.

B. Neither RCW 28B.10.900-.903 nor WAC 504-26-206 Create an Implied Cause of Action Against the University

Nothing in the plain language or the legislative history of the hazing statutes (RCW 28B.10.900-.903) can be read to imply a cause of action against the University.

Cornelius must establish three elements necessary to demonstrate a statutorily implied cause of action: (1) he is within the class for whose "especial" benefit the statute was enacted; (2) legislative intent supports creating an implied remedy; and (3) implying a remedy is consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation. *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 920–21, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990). "Critically," the second element requires the Court to determine that "legislative intent supports implying the *requested remedy*, rather than any remedy." *Martinez*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 455 (quoting *Rocha v. King County*, 195 Wn.2d 412, 428, 460 P.3d 624 (2020)). Cornelius cannot meet the second and third elements of *Bennett*.

Regarding the second element, the hazing statutes do not mandate that the University enter and prevent hazing inside a private, off-campus residence, or authorize any invasion by the University into the constitutionally protected privacy rights of adult students in their off-campus lives. RCW 28B.10.900-.903. In fact, nothing in the hazing statutes requires universities to take measures to proactively prevent hazing. *Martinez*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 453. Rather, a university's role under the hazing statutes is "reactive" in nature, imposing a duty "to create administrative rules to sanction persons and organizations for acts of hazing. Nothing more." *Id.*; see also Cornelius, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 481– 82. Cornelius fails to rebut any of these fundamental points. See Pet. for Review at 17-22.

Cornelius' reliance on *Swank v. Valley Christian Sch.*, 188 Wn.2d 663, 398 P.3d 1108 (2017), only undermines his argument. *See* Pet. for Review at 20. The concussion statute (Lystedt Law) in *Swank* imposed three preventative requirements on schools to (1) educate, (2) remove suspected concussed

athletes from play, and (3) prevent return without medical clearance. *Id.* at188. In considering the second element of the *Bennett* test—whether legislative intent supports creating an implied remedy—the *Swank* Court noted that, despite such clear mandatory provisions, "there is no mechanism in the Lystedt law to enforce the requirements intended to address the risks of youth athlete concussions." *Id.* at 677. Accordingly, the Court held that "[f]inding an implied cause of action in the Lystedt law gives its mandatory provisions mandatory effect." *Id.* at 681.

Swank underscores the type of specificity that is conspicuously missing from the hazing statutes here. Unlike the concussion statute, the hazing statutes do not compel the University to preventatively educate students about the dangers of hazing, or to otherwise monitor and police student conduct related to hazing.² The hazing statutes cannot support an implied

² Nevertheless, the University makes active efforts to educate students about hazing and alcohol and its anti-hazing policy. CP 2500-09; 2503-08, 1067.

remedy for failing to do something the statutes do not require.

Cornelius cannot show that legislative intent supports implying the duty asserted here.

Cornelius likewise fails to meet the third element of the Bennett test. The plain language of the hazing statutes makes clear that its purpose is to penalize those who engage in hazing, not universities. Martinez, 33 Wn. App. at 452. In fact, under RCW 28B.10.901(3), ETA and the individuals who engaged in hazing are "strictly liable" for intentionally engaging in or knowingly permitting the hazing of Cornelius. ETA's individual directors may also "be held liable for damages." *Id.* By contrast, the legislature did not recognize a private cause of action against the University. RCW 28B.10.900-.903. And "although the legislature had an opportunity to create a cause of action against universities when it significantly amended the antihazing statutes in 2022 (by adding several new sections) and in 2023 (by modifying former RCW 28B.10.901), it did not to do so." Martinez, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 456 n. 33 (citing Laws of 2022, ch. 209, §§ 1-6; Laws of 2023, ch. 196, § 1.).

Cornelius' assertion that WAC 504-26-206 implies a cause of action against the University also lacks merit. The University's anti-hazing provisions within the student code of conduct (*see* WAC 504-26-206) mirrors the hazing statutes (RCW 28B.10.900-.903) and prohibits hazing by any student or recognized organization, on or off campus. But as the Supreme Court held in *Barlow*, the University's student code of conduct "does not create control of students' behavior in a preventative way." *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 597. Rather, the code provides a basis to punish students "after the fact" and is "irrelevant to establishment of a duty." *Id*. Cornelius fails to rebut any of these points. *See* Pet. for Review 17-22.

³ The code of conduct in *Barlow* is the same as the code of conduct here, as both relate to incidents in 2017. *See* 2 Wn.2d at 587-88.

Lastly, in an "Amended Statement of Additional Authorities" filed on April 17, 2025, Cornelius cites two news articles regarding Washington State University's recent discipline of three fraternities as "legislative facts" that this Court should consider in deciding whether to grant review. Am. Statement of Add'1 Authorities at 1-2. Cornelius incorrectly claims that recognizing a duty of care owed by the University to fraternity members is needed because the University's present efforts to curb hazing "continue to fail." See id. Yet, the imposition of discipline and sanctions after an investigation of alleged hazing is a tool the Legislature made available to universities to combat illegal hazing. See, e.g., RCW 28B.10.902 (providing for revocation of official recognition by university for organizations that knowingly permit hazing), .903 (requiring institutions of higher education to adopt rules providing sanctions for initiation conduct not amounting to hazing), (recognizing sanctions .906(2)(d)-(e) against student organizations that violate a university's antihazing policies).

Indeed, the Legislature chose in 2022 to address illegal hazing by requiring institutions of higher education to "maintain and publicly report actual findings of violations by any student organization . . . of the public or private institution of higher education's code of conduct, antihazing policies, or state or federal laws related to hazing" RCW 28B.10.906. The articles cited by Cornelius are a direct result of the University's compliance with that legislative policy choice. This Court should reject Cornelius' invitation to legislate from the bench by judicially creating a cause of action the Legislature could have, but did not, enact.

C. Cornelius Failed to Establish Evidence That Night-Marching Had A School-Related Purpose Or Was Foreseeable

This Court has already clearly articulated the bounds of a university's § 344 duty to its students to when "a student is on campus for school related purposes or participating in a school activity." *Barlow*, 2 Wn. 3d at 597; *see also Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 485; Restatement (Second) of Torts § 344 ("A

possessor of land who holds it open to the public for entry *for his* business purposes is subject to liability to members of the public while they are upon the land for such a purpose") (emphasis added).

Cornelius testified that, on several occasions, ETA officers ordered him to march from the University library on campus to the off-campus ETA chapter house at night. CP 1373-74; CP 1773-74. On appeal, Cornelius argued for the first time that the University owed a duty under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 344 to protect him from those night marches. *See* Am. Br. Appellant at 43-48.

Division I correctly held that Cornelius failed to establish evidence that the nighttime marching had any school-related purpose that could give rise to a § 344 duty. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 489-90.⁴ In his Petition for Review, Cornelius again

⁴ Division I also gave Cornelius the opportunity at oral argument to explain his best evidence of a school-related purpose. He did not do so. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App 2d, n. 6.

fails to present any evidence---or even argue—that the nighttime marches advanced a school-related purpose. *See* Pet. for Review at 9-16.

Nor does Cornelius proffer evidence that the marching was foreseeable. In *McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 771, 344 P.3d 661 (2015), the Supreme Court explained, "to establish a genuine issue of material fact concerning a landowner's obligation to protect business invitees from third party criminal conduct under the prior similar incidents test, a plaintiff must generally show a history of prior similar incidents on the business premises" Id. (emphasis added); see also Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192, 205, 943 P.2d 286 (1997), as amended (Oct. 1, 1997) ("Washington courts have been reluctant to find criminal conduct foreseeable.").

Cornelius failed to present any evidence that any University employee or agent witnessed the night marches, that the marches were ever reported to the University, or that any

hazing incidents occurred on campus at any time. Cornelius states only that the University "was aware of hazing generally on its campus[.]" Am. Br. Appellant at 47; Pet. for Review at 9. But Cornelius fails to cite to any record evidence supporting this erroneous assertion. *Nivens*, 133 Wn.2d 192. Division I correctly held that Cornelius "fail[ed] to establish a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the [on campus] marches were foreseeable under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 344, comment f." *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 493.

D. Cornelius Abandoned Any Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(a) Argument

Division I's well-supported determination that Cornelius abandoned any argument under § 315(a) does not merit Supreme Court review. Appellate courts do not consider issues abandoned on appeal. *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107, 147 P.3d 641 (2006) (quoting *Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 230, 243, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978) (superseded by statute on other grounds)).

The abandonment test is disjunctive: "A party abandons an issue by failing to pursue it on appeal by (1) failing to brief the issue or (2) explicitly abandoning the issue at oral argument." *Holder*, 136 Wn. App. at 107 (emphasis added). In *Holder*, the plaintiff abandoned his claim by (1) making a "solitary reference" to the claim in the trial court and never raising it on appeal; (2) failing to brief the issue even after the respondent referenced it in its brief, and (3) explicitly abandoning it at oral argument. *Id*.

Cornelius similarly abandoned his § 315(a) claim. He failed to argue a § 315(a) claim anywhere in his original or amended Opening Brief. Even after the University argued abandonment, Cornelius failed to raise the argument in his reply. And to remove any doubt, Cornelius explicitly abandoned the § 315(a) argument at oral argument. *Cornelius*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 481 fn. 2.

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